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REPORT OF THE GENERAL COMMITTEE

(For the year ended 31 December, 2010)

The General Committee has pleasure in presenting its report
together with the financial statements for the year ended 31
December, 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The role of the Chamber is to promote, represent and safeguard
the interests of the Hong Kong business community.

ACCOUNTS
The state of the Chamber's affairs at 31* December, 2010 and the

result for the year ended are set out in the financial statements on
pages 50-68.

ASSETS

Details of the movements in assets are shown in notes 4-10 to the
financial statements.

GENERAL COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The General Committee Members who held office during the
year are set out on pages 2 and 3. No Member of the General
Committee, or any other Members of the Chamber, received any
form of remuneration in return for their services, other than normal
professional or similar fees paid for services or supplies rendered
to the Chamber and no portion of the income or property of the
Chamber was paid or transferred directly or indirectly by way of
dividend, bonus or otherwise to Members of the Chamber.

INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

No contract of significance to which the Chamber was a party and in
which a General Committee Member had a material interest subsisted
at the end of the year nor at any time during the year.

AUDITORS

A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditors of the
Chamber is to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting.

By Order of the General Committee,

-
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{"V\,
Anthony Wu
Chairman

on 14 April, 2011

gogon

(0O20100120310000)

oo00oooOb0OO0oono201001203100
gboooooooboobobo

goon
oboobooooooooobobobon

gooo

HEN
go0z2010012031 000000000

oooboooooosodesdd

HRN
oboobooooooooobobobon

go401000

googdg
goooooooooboobo200300

gbobooooooobobobobob
oboobooooooooobobobon
obobooooooooboobobon
gbooboooooooboobobobob
oooooo

oo
gboboooooooboobobobob

oboooooooboobaoon

ERERN
obooboooooooooboobobon

uboboooooboobobobobo

goooo

oon

RN
20110 40 140

00000 OO00o0Oo0



General Committee

General Committee

Sir C K Chow Mr He Guangbei Mr Victor Li MrY K Pang, SBS, JP  The Hon Jeffrey K F Lam,

Deputy Chairman Vice Chairman Vice Chairman Vice Chairman SBS, JP
ooooad goooo ooooo ooooo Legco Representative
Ooool ooo ooo 0oo ooooo

ooood

Mr Anthony Wu, Dr Raymond Kwok, JP Mr Ronald Lee Mr David T C Lie, Mr Stephen T H Ng Mr Christopher Pratt
GBS, JP ooooo ooooo SBS, OM, JP ooooo ooooo
Chairman D D D D D

ooooo
oo

Chamber Council 0 0O O

Mr Anthony Wu, ces, 1p ooooo Mr Paul M F Cheng, »» oooogd
(Chairman) woo) Mr Oscar Chow oooon
Sir CK Chow ooooo Mr Manohar Chugh ooooo
(Deputy Chairman) ) Mr David Eldon, css, ip ooooo
Mr He Guangbei Jooog Dr Fu Yu Ning fuululy
(Vice Chairman) (ooo) .

i . Dr William Fung, sss, 1o oooon
Mr Victor Li ooooOo el
(Vice Chairman) (0oo) Dr Aron H Harilela ooooo
Mr Y K Pang, ses,ip 00oon Mr Stanley Hui, s ooooo
(Vice Chairman) (ooo) Mr Daniel Koo oooo0
The Hon Jeffrey K F Lam, sss, ip Doooo Dr Raymond Kwok, »» boodg
(Legco Representative) Coooo) Mr Allen Lee, » ooooag
Mr Andrew Brandler oooon Mr Ronald Lee oooon
Mr Nicholas Brooke, Bss, ip oo0ooo Mr David T C Lie, sss, om, 1 ooooo
Dr Christopher Cheng, cs, 1p ooooo Mr ) B M Litmaath ooooo

2 Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce ~ Annual Report 2010



HRERN

g dd

Mr Nicholas Brooke, Dr Christopher Cheng,

BBS, JP GBS, JP
ooooo ooooo

Mr Oscar Chow
oooon

Mr Manohar Chugh
ooooo ooooo

Dr Fu Yu Ning Dr Aron H Harilela

Mr Stanley Hui, JP
ooooa ooooa

Mr James Tien, GBS, JP Mr Peter Wong, JP

ooooao ooood

Dr Vincent H S Lo, cas, ip
Mr Stephen T H Ng

Mr Anthony Nightingale, ses, 1p
Mr Christopher Pratt

Dr H Sohmen.

Dr Jack C Tang

Mr James Tien, css, ip
Mr C C Tung, sss,

Mr Peter Wong, i»

Mr K K Yeung, s

Mr Pang-Chun Yu, ses, 1
Mr Andrew Yuen

Mrs Betty Yuen

Dr Allan Zeman, css, Jp

Mr K K Yeung, JP

ooood

goooad
gboooad
goood
goooo
gooood
goooad
gooog
goood
goooo
gooood
goooad
gboooad
gooooo
goooo

Mr Pang-Chun Yu,

SBS, JP 0oooo
ooooo

Mr Andrew Yuen Mrs Betty Yuen

oooooo GBS, JP

Dr Allan Zeman,

goooo

Chairman's Committee 0 [0 [0 [0 [

Mr Anthony Wu. cgs, 1p
(Chairman)

Sir C K Chow
(Deputy Chairman)
Mr He Guangbei
(Vice Chairman)
Mr Victor Li

(Vice Chairman)
Mr Y K Pang, sss, ip
(Vice Chairman)

The Hon Jeffrey K F Lam, s8s, 1
(Legco Representative)

Mr Alex Fong
(CEO)

ooooo
(ooa)

ooooo
(ooooo)

ooooo
(ooa)

oooog
(ooo)

oooooo
(ooo)

ooooo
(0oooo)

oooog
(ooa)

(As of December 2010 [0 20100 127)

00000 OO00o0Oo0 3



Committee Chairmen

Americas Committee

Chairman O 0 :
@ Mr Patrick Cheung 00 0 0 O

Vice Chairmen O 0 O :

MrGary Ahup 00O OO

Mr Michael J Paulus DO O 00O
Prof Steven John Dekrey 0 0 O O O

Asia & Africa Committee

Chairman 0 0 :
© wiNsshoffoooooooo

Vice Chairmen 0 0 7 :

Mr Marc Castagnet 0 D O O O

Mr Michael Lorenz

MrBehzad Mirzaei D0 00000000

China Committee

Chairman 0 O :
© mrEmilvwooooo

Vice Chairmen 00 0 :
MrWang Lu-yen 000 00O
MrYKPangOD OO OO
MsRoseleeCD OO OO

Digital, Information and
Telecommunications Committee

Chairman OO :
o Ms Winnie Yeung 0 00 0O
Vice Chairmen 0 0 O :

MrJonathan Lee 0O O OO
Mr Charles Mok DD OO O

Committee Chairmen

Economic Policy Committee

Chairman O O :
© VrlamesRiley 00O OO

Vice Chairman 0 0 0 :
Dr Mark Michelson 0O 0 00O

Environment and Sustainability
Committee

Chairman OO0 :
e Dr Glenn Frommer D 0O O O

Vice Chairmen 00 0 :

MsTeresasAuO OO QOO
MrCaryChanO OO OO
DrleanneNgO OO OO

Europe Committee

Chairman 0 0 :
0 Mr Serge G Fafalen 0O OO O

Vice Chairmen 0O [0 7 :

Ms Jennifer Chan 0 O O 0O O
MrNSShroff 0O DOOOOOO
MrSergioMenO D OO -000

Financial and Treasury Services
Committee

Chairman O O :
© wTCChanooooO
Vice Chairmen 0 0 7 :

Mrs Petrina Tam OO OO OO
MrAlanWong OO O OO

Industry & Technology Committee

Chairman 0 0 :
e Mr EdmondYue DO O OO

Vice Chairmen O 0 O :

MrKCleungO OO OO
MrNatureYang O OO O O

Legal Committee

Chairman O O :
@ Wi Jonathan Goud 0 0D O O
Vice Chairmen 0 0 O :

Mr Peter Caldwell DO O OO
MrKenneth NgO 0D OO DO




HRERERERN

Manpower Committee Shipping & Transport Committee
ugogot gogoogon
Chairman O O : Chairman O O :

@) Wr Brian Renwick 0 0001 O @ Capt Gur Prasad Kohli DO O O OO
Vice Chairmen 00 0 : Vice Chairmen OO 0 :
Ms Nancy Chan D OO OO DrKelvinLeung D OO OO
MrMatthias LiD OO0 OO MrJohn Harrles 00 0O O

Membership Committee

ooooooo Small & Medium Enterprises
. Committee
Chairman 0 0 :
@SirCKChowDDDDD S
Chairman O 00 :
@ Mr Francis Chan D 0 0 O O
Real Estate & Infrastructure Committee Vice Chairmen 0 0 07 -
ogoobooogo Drcliff CKChanO OO OO
Chairman [0 0 : MrKLTamO OGO GQOQ
@ Vi Jolyon Culbertson 0000 O Mr Norman Yeung U0 0 U O

Vice Chairmen O 0 O :
Mr Peter Churchouse 00 O OO

) ; Taxation Committee
Mr Simon Davies D O OO 0O

gooon

Chairman O O :
Retail & Tourism Committee @ wMsAgnesChanD OO OO
oooooooo Vice Chairmen 000 :

Ms Sytske Kimman 00000
Mr David Hunter 00 0O O

Chairman O O :
@ MrRoyNgO OO OO
Vice Chairmen O [0 O :

Mr Michael Hobson 0 O 0O O O
Ms Sylvia Chung 0 0D 0O O

googd

HONG KONG COALITION OF
SERVICE INDUSTRIES
ooooooo

@ Chairman 0 0 :

Mr David Dodwell D O O 0O O

SPECIAL INTEREST GROUPS
ooon

Taiwan Interest Group
1000

Chairman 000 :
Mr Stanley Hiil D OO OO

Women Executives Club
ogdg

Chairman 00 :
Miss SonyaWu O OO0 OO

Vice Chairmen 0 0 O :
Ms lrene Leung OO OO 0O
Mrs Margaret Leung 0 0 0O Q00O

(As of December 2010 [0 20100 1200)




AL

o ] [ 3

Chairman'’s Review

Il

a
>

As is our custom, it is my duty to report to you, our membgrs, o the

Chamber's activities in the past year. 2010 was, for the ma part, a m
recovery, despite a number of challenges including regulatory creep. We saw

the introduction of certain regulations that affected the competitiveness of .

Hong Kong, and lobbied hard to ensure that the HKSAR remains among the

freest and most competitive business hubs in the world. 5
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Chairman’s Review

2010 is a very special year for your Chamber, as we celebrate
the 150th anniversary of the founding of what has become

one of the most respected business associations in the world.
Those of us on the General Committee know that the quality of
our members, rather than the number of our years, are the real
reason for our success. In passing this landmark, we wish to take
the opportunity to remember those who have contributed so
much to this organization.

As we have done in the past, this Annual Report is a time to
take stock, to review the year just passed and make plans for the
future. Two thousand and ten was a better year than we have
come to expect in recent years, and for that we are truly grateful.
Our economy grew some 7% in real terms on a very broad
base of investment, consumption and trade. Unemployment fell
throughout the year, and inflation remained low.

During the course of the year we once again submitted your
views to government on the policies and priorities to be
included in the policy address, the government's budget and the
annual CEPA wish-list. We responded to consultations on major
legislative initiatives such as the competition bill, the statutory
minimum wage law, stock market rules, investor education,

class action law suits and corporate rescue procedures. We also
voiced our collective wisdom on insurance and trade practices
regulations, data privacy, and the means by which we will select
our next Chief Executive.

And, as the largest business association in Hong Kong, we took
the lead on the single most important issue uniting all residents,
regardless of political persuasion: the environment. We laid out
our views on climate change, pollution, sustainability and the

management of electrical and electronic waste. Throughout
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the year, we discussed Hong Kong's role in carbon reduction

strategies, and plans to make better use of our harbour front area.

Our programmes covered a wide range of subjects, including
the fiscal situations in Europe, the changing rules and practices
in transfer pricing, corruption, copyright laws, human resource
management, the property market, social media and international
financial centres. We heard views on the outlook for the PRD
and that of the renminbi, WTO trade disputes, opportunities for
development of nation-wide testing and certification standards
and credit risk assessments.

Further afield, members undertook missions to Beijing, Tianjin,
Shanghai, Chongqing, Xiamen, Jinmen, Egypt and Morocco, as
well as Hong Kong's own logistics centre and science park.

As we celebrate our 150th year as the pre-eminent business
association in Hong Kong, remaining relevant to you, our
members, has never been more important. We depend on you to
tell us your concerns, your priorities and your desires so that we
may convert them into policy positions that truly reflect the heart
of Hong Kong business. We collect views through our surveys, our
committee system and our staff and along each of these avenues

we find willing hands to help us along the way.

High on the list of those who help make this such a wonderful
Chamber with which to be associated are the chairmen and women
and vice chairs of our many geographic, functional and issue
committees. They provide an important link between members and
the staff, and feed ideas and initiatives to the General Committee.
For that, | offer my personal and sincere thanks.

good

The Chamber organized a wide variety of events in 2010,
ranging from the Business Community Luncheon with
the Chief Executive, to a dinner with U.S. Ambassador to
China, Jon M Huntsman, Jr, to our Christmas Cocktail at
the Hong Kong Club.
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Chairman’s Review

We are blessed with a highly professional staff of hard working
people who labour behind the scenes to ensure that your
Chamber is one of which we can be proud, and for that

we should all be grateful. | would also like to single out the
members of the Chairman's Committee, Deputy Chairman Sir CK
Chow, Vice Chairmen He Guangbei, Victor Li and YK Pang, our
representative on the Legislative Council The Honourable Jeffrey
Lam and our CEO Alex Fong. With their help and guidance, we
have achieved quite a bit in the past year, and without them

none of it would have been possible.

As the Chamber's ultimate leadership, the General Committee
strives to reflect members' concerns and wishes in its work. Such
commitment is time-consuming, and for committee members'
dedication and support, | would like to extend my thanks.

One hundred and fifty years is an important milestone, and one
for which each of us may feel proud. Like all such markers, it is
but a measure of how far we have come, not how far we may
still go. And so, as we celebrate our birthday, let us all continue
to work for the very best for Hong Kong.

Happy Birthday!

"V‘\v

Anthony Wu
Chairman

Chairman Anthony Wu,
and CEO Alex Fong,
unveiled the Chamber's
150th Anniversary logo to
500 members attending
the Christmas Cocktail at
the Hong Kong Club.
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2010 marked the eve of the Chamber's 150th uﬁlversary, ' }
celebrated in fine style with a diverse selection of activities d g the year.
Hong Kong's economy steadily improved as the global com ﬂlty ( bi_ '
recovered from the Great Depression of 2009. It was also a year that " "
significant regulatory changes that impacted the very fabric of Hong Ko ng s

business landscape.
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CEQ's Report

Almost twelve extremely busy months have passed since

we launched the 150th Anniversary Countdown at our last
Annual General Meeting in 2010. Now, our 150th Anniversary
is upon us, with May 29, 1861, being the official date of our
establishment.

What a busy and productive year it has been. Under the
guidance of Chairman Anthony Wu and the General Committee,
the Chamber has made the most of every day in all three of its
mission areas — advocacy, programmes, and business services.
It was also a year that saw Hong Kong steadily recover from the
worst of the financial crisis, thanks in no small measure to the
practical, constructive suggestions that we lobbied government
for on your behalf.

Business Advocacy
Twenty-ten saw a number of government consultations and the

introduction of a number of bills that impacted the very fabric
of the business landscape. Key among these were rewriting
the Companies Law, Competition Bill, minimum wage, and
healthcare reform. Our submissions on pending or existing
government policies is a vital part of what we do to generate
ideas to create a business environment conducive to our
members' business and to help keep Hong Kong competitive.

We urged the government to focus on three main areas:
managing the fragile recovery, improving Hong Kong's
attractiveness as a business hub, and improving the environment.
On the whole, we felt your voices were heard. We were also

the voice of reason in response to the proposals to strengthen

regulations governing personal data usage.

To help members
discover new business
opportunities, the
Chamber organized a
useful business mission
to Beijing in 2010. We
also organized cocktail
receptions with Consuls
General in Hong Kong
and discussed policies
with members
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We provided input for the 12th Five-Year Plan, and CEPA, and |
am pleased to report to members that many of the proposals
unveiled are in line with the Chamber's submission to the
Central and HKSAR governments.

The environment featured predominantly in many of our
submissions during the year under review. Despite the failure
of the United Nations Climate Change Conference to produce
a global agreement, the Chamber joined forces with the Hong
Kong Coalition on the Environment advocating that the HKSAR
Government should set concrete targets to reduce greenhouse

gas emissions.

good

Business Connect

In addition to our advocacy role, we know how many
members greatly value our business connect role, which is
why we regularly organize a diverse programme of events and
activities for members. During the year we launched the 150th
Anniversary Distinguished Speakers Series, at which we have
heard some prominent figures, including U.S. Ambassador to
China, Jon M Huntsman, Jr; Leslie Hinton, CEO of Dow Jones &
Company and Publisher of The Wall Street Journal; Lieutenant
General Sir Robert, Chairman of the McKinney Rogers Group,
and former Deputy Commanding General of coalition forces
during the Iraq War; and Dr Josef Ackermann, Chairman of the
Management Board and the Group Executive Committee of
Deutsche Bank AG.

§Fh FCieiRiisitS 201055 — K8

Cood Citizen ward Proscatation Coremosdy 2010 Puase !

T ——

Elaine Young (centre), winner of RBS Coutts/Financial Times Women in
Asia Entrepreneur of the Year Award, spoke at the Women Executives
Club ‘Meet the Corporate Architects Series'.

Two Good Citizen Award ceremonies were held in 2010. To date, 3,708 good citizens have

received the award.

O00O0O0OO0OO0O0O0OO0z20100000000O0O0O0O0O0O0OOOO8,708000000000

RBSCoutts 000 0000000000000 O0O0O0O0O0O0O0OO
gooooooooooooooooooooooooooo

-

.

—-

ooo0oOooOoocOoOoOoOoOocepPADOOOOCOOOO
o00ooo0ODOO DOoOOoOoO00ooooOoOoocoo0oooon
ooooooooocoooooo

oooooOoOoocOoOoOoOoooOoCcOoOoOoOoOoOooo
ooooooDooOooooooOoocoooooODoOnoO
oooooOoOoocOoOooOoooOoCcOoOoOoOoOoOoboo
ooooooooooo

gboobOoooobOoobOoO0ooOobOoobOoono
gooooOooOoOoOooOooOoocOoOoOoOoOOOoCcOO
ooooooOoOoOoooooiseooooooonoon
gooooOoocoOooooooocoooOoOOoOocOoO
gboobOoooobOoobOo0ooOoOooboonDo
Leslie HintonO O OOOOOOOODOOOOOOOODO
gboobOoooobOoobOo0ooOoOooboonDo
goooOoOooOoOoOooooOoocOoOooOoOOOobcOoOd

00000 O00O0oOo 15



CEQ's Report

Also related to the 150th Anniversary events was the successful
Christmas Cocktail at the Hong Kong Club, where we unveiled
our 150th Anniversary logo. A record 500-plus members
registered for this networking function, and a similar record
number of people celebrated the Chamber's Spring Dinner on
February 24, 2011. While the Spring Dinner in past years was
traditionally co-organized by our China and SME committees,

this year, all committees joined the fun.

Business Services
The Chamber's trade documentation, and support services

covering Certificates of Origin, Camet, human capital development,
staff training and marketing services were put to good use by
members during the year under review. Both the income and
number of trade documents processed registered an increase

of 9% in 2010, compared to 2009. We also expanded our CO
services, including a WebCO service which is now the largest web
platform for certificates of origin in Hong Kong.

Our web site also underwent a complete revamp during the year
under review. The new site is now streamlined in response to
many members requesting a simpler layout. Moreover, we have
increased the amount of online content and services available
exclusively to Chamber members.

Chamber Services Limited
Many of our members require customised services as they

lack the skill and expertise to successfully organize professional
events. To meet these needs, we have expanded the services
offered by Chamber Services Limited to help members achieve

Leslie Hinton (centre), CEO of Dow Jones & Company, and
Publisher of The Wall Street Journal, was one of the business
leaders who addressed members as part of the Chamber's
150th Anniversary Distinguished Speakers Series.
00000000000000000000 Leslie Hinton
0000000000001500000000000000
oooooo

Demand for places on the business trip to the Shanghai Expo was so high that the Chamber
organized two missions in 2010.
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their objectives in Hong Kong and also in the Mainland. Similarly,
our training and venue rental services offered members a good
mix of quality services customized to their individual needs.

Ensuring that you, our members, remain satisfied and value

the services and information that we provide is a never-ending
endeavour. We continue to expand our range of programmes
and services, while seeking ways to better serve you at no extra
cost. We sincerely believe we offer the best value in town. Part
of this is due to the excellent calibre of people who serve on our
committees. They invest considerable time and energy in the

Chamber every year and deserve our deepest gratitude.

good

As you can see from this brief report of the year's activities,
2010 was a very busy and productive year for your Chamber.
Lastly, despite a very tough year, | am pleased to report that we
were able to finish the year with a reasonable surplus and a lean
staff complement. You can read more detailed reports on these
specific activities elsewhere in this annual report.

Alex Fong
CEO

To enable members to exchange views with the Chamber leadership on submissions to government, the
Chamber's then Chairman Andrew Brandler, Legislative Council Representative the Hon Jeffrey Lam, Taxation
Committee Chairman Agnes Chan, CEO Alex Fong and Chief Economist David O'Rear met and shared their views
with members on the Chamber's aspirations for the 2010-11 Budget.
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Experts speaking at HKGCC's Business Summit Series looked
at the strategic positioning of Hong Kong's financial service
industry. Speaking at the event were Hu Shuli, Publisher and
Editor-in-Chief of Caixin Media; Charles Li, Chief Executive of
Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Ltd; and Shen Ming Gao,
Greater China Chief Economist, Citigroup Global Markets
Asia Limited.
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Business Advocacy

Every year the Chamber formulates positions on issues relevant to
the business sector through discussions with its various committees,
as well as at events. It also communicates regularly with government

officials and policy makers to press home our views.

China
The Central Government promulgated several new policies

and regulations during the year under review to deal with the
structural changes unfolding in the Mainland in the wake of the
global recession. Some of these were far-reaching, including the
new Social and Insurance Law, Regulations on the Democratic
Management of Enterprises, and Collective Bargaining, among
others. These raised serious concerns about the rapidly changing
business environment, particularly operating costs. In response,
the Chamber reflected our concems in meetings with Mainland

officials, and also through submission. We also organized policy

workshops and seminars to provide members with the latest

information on these developments.

CEPA — Supplement VIl to CEPA, announced in May, provided
35 market liberalisation and trade and investment facilitation
measures in 19 sectors. The Chamber presented its "HKGCC
Priority Liberalisation Targets" proposal in 2009 to both the
Central and Hong Kong governments. Seminars were also
arranged during the year under review to introduce the new

measures to help members explore business opportunities.

12th Five-Year Plan - In February 2010, the Chamber submitted
its proposals to the Central and Hong Kong governments
detailing its views and recommendations on Hong Kong's role in
the 12th Five-Year Plan.

Key government
officials met with
members to discuss
methods for selecting
the Chief Executive and
forming the Legislative
Council in 2012.
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Pear River Delta — In April 2010, Hong Kong and Guangdong signed
the Framework Agreement on Hong Kong/Guangdong Co-operation.
The Chamber organized several related seminars to help members
learn about new opportunities resulting from the agreement, and

updated them on the implementation details of the agreement.

Greater Pearl River Delta Business Council — The Chamber
contributed to discussions on issues ranging from immigration to
promotion of Hong Kong to private enterprises of Guangdong. In
August 2010, a proposal on "Hong Kong's Roles and Positioning in
the Economic Development of the Nation" was submitted to the

council.

DIT Committee
The Digital, Information and Telecommunications (DIT)

Committee gives advice on DIT related policy issues as well as

promoting IT usage in business. Under the auspices of the DIT
Committee, three key issues discussed in 2010 were knowledge
management, e-business and creative industries. The committee
also organized meetings for members to exchange their views

on these topics.

Economic Policy Committee
The committee made substantial contributions to the Chamber's

submissions to government on the Chief Executive's annual
Policy Address and the Financial Secretary's annual Budget.
The committee also contributed to the formulation of Chamber
responses to government proposals for a statutory minimum
wage and voluntary medical insurance, the latter as part of an

ongoing exercise on healthcare reform.

good

Leung Chun-ying, Regina Ip and Rosanna Wong
were some of the well-know faces who shared
their insights with members.
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Business Advocacy

Environment and Sustainability Committee
Although the 2009 United Nations Climate Change Conference

failed to produce a global binding agreement, the Chamber
joined forces with the Hong Kong Business Coalition on the
Environment (HKBCE) in January 2010 to issue a statement
on the Post-Copenhagen public seminar, advocating that the
HKSAR Government should set concrete targets to reduce
greenhouse gas emissions by benchmarking against the best
practices of other developed metropolitan cities. Subsequently,
the government released a public consultation paper "Climate
Change Strategy and Action Agenda" in late 2010, proposing
a carbon intensity reduction target of 50%-60% by 2020. At
the same time the committee released a study supporting
the proposed target and provided a number of further
recommendations.

The Chamber and HKBCE, expressed support to the proposed
legislation banning idling engines, and supported the
government's bill on implementing the mandatory Building
Energy Codes.

In April, the committee published a study on the development
of a regional circular economy in the wake of the signing of the
framework agreement on Hong Kong-Guangdong co-operation.
The report also served as the Chamber's response to a public
consultation on a new producer responsibility scheme for waste
electrical and electronic equipment (WEEE), recommending that
Hong Kong and the Pearl River Delta should complement each
other in their efforts to create a "closed-loop" for the reuse and
recycling of WEEE products.

The Industry & Technology Committee spearheaded
the “Hong Kong Awards for Industries: Innovation
and Creativity,” a premier business awards scheme
championed by the HKSAR Government.
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Throughout the year, the committee also hosted a series of
events and luncheons to promote best practices in sustainable
development.

Financial and Treasury Services Committee

The committee provided its views in response to major
government consultations on the proposed establishment of

an investor education council and a financial dispute resolution
centre, as well as the establishment of an independent
insurance authority. The Chamber argued the government

had failed to make a strong case for creating these new public
bodies. Seminars and luncheons on various topics related to the
industry, such as M&A trends in China, and the outlook of RMB

business in Hong Kong, were also organized for members.

good

Hong Kong Coalition of Service Industries (HKCSI)
The HKCSI, the service policy think tank of the Chamber, was active

in lobbying for progress in the WTO negotiations to liberalize trade
in services and the early conclusion of the Doha Round. The HKCSI
was represented at the Global Services Summit in September in

Washington, D.C, and was a partner sponsor of the summit.

Industry and Technology Committee

To follow up on the government's proposal to promote Hong
Kong's testing and certification services, the committee invited
various stakeholders to discuss the plan. The committee also
presented another submission to government seeking to clarify
technical issues concerning detailed implementation regulations
pertaining to CEPA Supplement VI, under which technical testing
and analysis as well as product testing would be opened to Hong

Kong companies.

Among the site visits that the Chamber organized
in 2010 was a study tour to Daya Bay Nuclear
Power Station, as well as to technology nurseries.
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Business Advocacy

During the year under review, the committee also organized a
number of events to promote home-grown innovations applicable
to businesses, including briefings and showcase visits to various
parks and universities. It also spearheaded the 2011 Hong Kong
Awards for Industries: Innovation and Creativity," a premier business

awards scheme championed by the HKSAR Government.

Legal Committee
The Legal Committee had an active year with submissions made

to government on a variety of business and commercial laws
and regulatory proposals. These included the first and second
phase consultations on amendments to the draft Companies Bill,
disclosure of price sensitive information by listed companies, and
class actions. The committee was also involved in drawing up
Chamber responses to consultation exercises on a review of the

privacy ordinance and the proposal to set up centres for investor

education and financial dispute resolution.

Manpower Committee
The committee provided practical views on policies impacting

manpower issues to support the Chamber's submissions to
government. It also organized a number of luncheons and
seminars to update members on the latest human resources
trends and people management strategies.

Real Estate and Infrastructure Committee
The resumption of the Home Ownership Scheme dominated

the committee's agenda for much of the year. This is an ongoing
issue, which the committee hopes to eventually develop a
Chamber position for submission to government. Other issues

The Hong Kong
business delegation to
Chongging in October
examined service
industry cooperation
opportunities in the
central and western
parts of the Mainland.
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considered during the year included the West Kowloon Cultural

District, green buildings and supply of construction workers.

Retail and Distribution Committee
A number of legislative proposals affecting the retail and tourism

sector arose in 2010. The committee examined the potential
impact of those and discussed concerns with government

and members. It discussed measures to prevent unfair trade
practices, and at the same time emphasized the importance
of striking a fair balance to protect the legitimate rights of
consumers while avoiding an unnecessary regulatory burden
on businesses. Other legislative proposals discussed included
nutrition labelling, levy on plastic shopping bags, enhancement
of regulatory regime for pharmacies, personal data (privacy)
protection, etc.

good

Representing the interests of the Hong Kong Franchise
Association, the Chamber attended the meetings of the World
Franchise Council and the Asia Pacific Franchise Confederation,
which were held in October in Seoul, Korea, to exchange
experiences on franchise development and trends with national

franchise associations around the world.

Shipping and Transport Committee

The committee continued to monitor closely and make
recommendations to the Chamber on operational, regulatory and
infrastructural issues that have a bearing on the competitiveness
of the shipping and transport sectors. The Port Affairs Working
Group, a sub-committee of the Shipping and Transport
Committee, updated and published the 2011 schedules for

Tramp Agency Fees and Mooring and Un-mooring Charges.

The Chamber welcomed over 50 business delegations
from the Mainland in 2010.
OOO0O020100000050000000000

The Competition Bill aroused much debate in Hong
Kong. To analyse the details of the bill, experts, including
Greg So, Under Secretary for Commerce and Economic
Development, shared their knowledge with members.
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Business Advocacy

SME Committee

The committee monitored the development of policies
affecting small businesses and worked closely with the
government on initiatives to assist SMEs, such as the SME
Mentorship Programme. It also provided input in Chamber-
wide discussions on issues affecting small businesses, such
as minimum wage, competition law, etc. A working group

on SME assistance measures was set up to discuss possible
alternative arrangements after the government Special Loan
Guarantee Scheme expired at the end of 2010. The working
group urged the government to ensure a smooth transition and
to put in place adequate facilities for working capital financing
and revolving credit. Subsequently, a SME financing guarantee

scheme was launched by the Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation.

Taxation Committee
The committee was actively engaged in a business-wide campaign

to lobby government to lower the profits tax to 15%, provide
significant tax relief for SMEs, and allow deductions for investment
in plant and machinery used in manufacturing operations outside
of Hong Kong. Informative sessions were also organized during the
year on such issues as business opportunities arising from Hong
Kong's tax treaties with Europe and ways to minimise tax obligations

in the continuing absence of group loss relief/carry back.

Policy Working Groups

An Expert Group on Competition Law looked into the technical
aspect of the law. A Working Group, comprising representatives from
various relevant committees of the Chamber was set up to focus

on lobbying strategies and efforts of the Chamber on this issue.
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Throughout the year, the Chamber maintained regular dialogue
with the government and presented our views to the Legislative
Council Bills Committee on the Competition Bill, focusing on
detailed provisions of the bill and presenting possible solutions.
The Chamber will continue to provide input to the LegCo Bills
Committee with a view to ensuring that Hong Kong will have a
good competition law.

In the second consultation on reforming healthcare financing,
the Chamber's working group on healthcare reform put forward
ideas that support our strong belief that a mandatory insurance
programme focused on community-based preventative care is
necessary. The heart of our position, however, remains constant:
no one in need should be denied care because of an inability

to pay. At the same time, we once again raised our concerns at

good

the lack of attention to cost controls, and in particular the closed

nature of the healthcare professionals markets.

With the support of the minimum wage working group, the
Chamber presented its views and analysis on the initial rate

for the statutory minimum wage, and its analysis showed

that it would be prudent to consider an initial rate of $24 or
$25/ hour. We stressed the potentially significant impact on
unemployment, particularly low-income eamers. We discussed
with the Provisional Minimum Wage Commission and other key
stakeholders to convey our views, and after the commission
announced its recommendation on setting the initial rate at
$28/hour, the Chamber reiterated its call for close monitoring on
the impact on unemployment and government support to SMEs
and those who might lose their jobs.

The minimum wage, competition bill, and healthcare
financing were some of the far-reaching issues that
the Chamber worked tirelessly on to bring informed
debate to the discussions.
O0000000O0O00000000000000
goOo0oOo0o0OOOoOoDOOOoOoOOoOoDooOoOo

oboooboO0obOobOoobOoobOobOoobOooobooo
oooooOoOooOooOoOoooOoCcOoOoOoOoOoOoboO
oboooboobOobOooboooobOooboo

o0oo0oooOoOo0oO00oooooOooOoooooDooooO
ooooooOoooooooooocoOoOoOoOooOoboOoo
000000000240 250 000000000000
ooooooOoooooooooocoOooOoOooobooOoo
oooooooooooooooooooooooood
oooooOoOoooooooooocoooOooOoooboOoa
2000 000000000O0O0O0OOO0OOOOOOOO
oooooOoOooOooooooOocOoooOoOoOoboo

00000 O00O0oOo 27



|

7002030000 027950000080

050N 0600000%00e W UETT

tlnonﬁoowooﬁtoaoﬁwﬁwjﬁﬁ

I L ST .
"%:L - 'u— = ..-—-' H; LH-_--II-‘J! = e — 5 .
e oy, a g P S D = e
T ﬂ%ﬁa s T e
- ] S TH, . 'J'_ e ="':'_‘.'§IF_E‘._:I F—ﬂ' =
TR T e e = P| e
o< | & Tt e s
.l i I B 2 - " i » * = nd ol J 3 _ o
€ A

..ﬂ"__\ g' .n' ()

0 00 _1'.. 00

B e ey
= t“" Lo o |

90000

o0

il

:..-.E".A: B
1

"5 YL IR}

g

dddd

The Chamber provides a wide range of business docu
information, and event services for members.
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Business Services & Support

Certification Services
The Certification Division provides quality and efficient certificate

of origin (CO) and electronic trade documentation services
at various rates to Chamber members and non-members. It
operates seven offices throughout the Hong Kong SAR to provide

easy access and services to all prospective clients.

The Chamber CO business emerged slowly but firmly from the
financial tsunami in 2008-09, and recorded a moderate recovery
in 2010.

Both the income and the number of trade documents processed
increased by more than 9% during the year under review. The

market share of the various CO services offered by the Division had

recorded incremental increases. New features have been added
to the WebCO system in 2010 to allow the usage of e-certification
for online signing application forms and users may use CO data

stored in our system to convert five types of trade documents.

The WebCO system is now the largest web platform in Hong
Kong for CO services. We are also the second largest Carnet
issuing organization in Asia. Carnet is a much welcomed service
offered by the Division to facilitate traders to carry their samples

and exhibition materials to overseas markets.

Looking ahead, we expect the Chamber CO business to remain
stable in 2011. We shall continue to provide quality and efficient

services to our customers.
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Training Services

The Chamber organized over 75 workshops, seminars, and
training courses in 2010, for over 1,300 attendees. Courses for
senior to middle management from various fields and industries
were the most popular. Topics covered include interpersonal
communications, people development, work ethics, finance,
leadership, client relations, sales and marketing strategies, etc. In
addition, tailor-made training programmes were also organized
for members upon their request. The Chamber will continue to
improve the quality and variety of courses it offers to meet the
needs of members.

goobooood

Human Resources

The Chamber's headcount as of the end of 2010 stood at 114,
down from 119 in 2009. To encourage a harmonious workplace,
a staff outing to the Ocean Park was arranged in summer, and
an annual staff dinner took place in December. To promote good
health, talks were held to educate staff about protection of the
spine and proper posture, as well as encouraged to eat healthily
and to lead a balanced work and personal life during Work-Life
Balance Day. Staff were also encouraged to upgrade their skills
by taking various training courses to improve their abilities and
job satisfaction.

The Certification Division saw

the number of trade documents
processed in 2010 increase by 9%
over 2009's figure.
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Business Services & Support

General Resources
The Chamber experimented with new service providers during

Financial Resources

2010 was a year of moderate recovery for the Chamber's CO
operations. Although the surplus for the year shown in the the year under review to improve the catering services for
Consolidated Accounts is $4.7 million, a drop of 45% from the members during events. As a green Chamber, past efforts to
previous year, the operational surplus (i.e. excluding net realised reduce energy consumption continue to be reinforced. Moreover,
gains on available-for-sale debt and equity securities) has all plastic bottles and paper used at events are recycled. Due to
increased 124% from $0.5 million in 2009 to $1.2 million in

2010. The Chamber's net assets also grew from $351.7 million

the increased risk of swine and bird flu in 2010, awareness of
workplace hygiene was reinforced to protect the health of staff
last year to $371.9 million this year. As a result, the Chamber as well as visitors.
finances remain healthy and strong in celebrating its 150th

anniversary in 2011.

The Chamber organized
75 workshops and training
courses in 2010.
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Chamber Services Limited
Chamber Services Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of

the Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce and it mainly
provides customized services to members to meet their needs
for event management, market and economic research, business

meeting and business concierge services.

The company has a wide cross-section of clients. In the past
year we helped clients from Hong Kong, international and the

Mainland from both the public and the private sectors.

goobooood

In addition to helping
members organize their
own events in Hong
Kong and overseas,
Chamber Services
Limited also organized
training seminars to suit
businesses' needs in the
Mainland.
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Business Connect

Hong Kong Programmes
To help build up awareness of the Chamber's 150 anniversary

in 2011, we launched a special 150th Anniversary Distinguished
Speaker Series featuring talks by renowned leaders. These
included Les Hinton, CEO of Dow Jones & Company and
Publisher of The Wall Street Journal, Jon M. Huntsman, Jr, United
States Ambassador to China, and Sir Robert Fry, Chairman of
McKinney Rogers Group, who spoke to members in 2010.

During the year under review, the Chamber also introduced a
new Meet the Connectors Series for members to discuss face-to-
face with policy influencers issues impacting the business sector
and the community in general. Leung Chun-ying, Chairman of

the One Country Two Systems Research Institute, Lawrence Fung

Siu-por, Chairman of the Board of Directors of Hong Kong Ideas
Centre, and Regina Ip, Chairperson of Savantas Policy Institute
shared with members their roles in sustainable development of

Hong Kong.

Against the backdrop of the financial downturn, the Chamber
organized a number of luncheon seminars to update members
on the latest global economic environment. They included:
Alderman Nick Anstee, Lord Mayor of the City of London, Dr
Jong-Wha Lee, Chief Economist of the Asian Development Bank,
Carl Berrisford, Equity Analyst, Wealth Management Research ,
UBS, Dr Il Houng Lee, Senior Resident Representative — Beijing,
China, IMF, and Dr Anil K. Gupta, Chaired Professor of Strategy at
INSEAD.
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We continued to develop our very successful Corporate
Architects Series. Guests invited to speak at this programme
included: The Woman Who Makes a Difference: Christine Loh,
CEO and Co-Founder of Civic Exchange, The Entrepreneur of

the Year: Elaine Young, CEO and Co-Founder of Shama, and The
Rising Star: Claire Hsu-Vuchot, Executive Director and Co-Founder
of Asia Art Archive.

Mainland Programmes
During the year under review, the Chamber organized timely

roundtable luncheons and seminars to keep members abreast of
the rapidly changing business landscape in the Mainland. Major
topics covered included the internationalization of the renminbi,
China's 12th Five Year Plan, competitiveness of Chinese cities,

and changes and trends in PRC labour issues, among others.

We also helped organizations from different cities and provinces
in the Mainland to come to Hong Kong to update the business
community here on the latest business opportunities in their
respective areas. In total, the Chamber co-organized and

supported over 70 such events during the year under review.

During the year under review, we organized six missions to the
Mainland cities of Beijing & Tianjin, Shanghai, Fuzhou, Xiamen
& Kinmen, and Chongqing, two of which were to visit the
World Expo in Shanghai. In terms of incoming delegations, the
Chamber received about 50 delegations from different regions
in the Mainland in 2010.

good

The Chamber organized several overseas missions to
help members discover new business opportunities.
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Business Connect

International Programmes

The Chamber led a joint delegation with the Hong Kong

Trade Development Council to Egypt and Morocco in early
2010. Delegates met with government officials, authorities of
investment zones, and received detailed information from major

business organizations in the two countries.

Locally, the Chamber continued to organize its highly regarded
cocktail receptions with overseas Consuls General and diplomatic
representatives in Hong Kong to build up member's contacts
and understanding in various regions.

Taiwan Interest Group
Closer cross-strait relations has rekindled interest in Taiwan.

As a result, the Chamber organized a seminar with leaders of

three key official Taiwan organizations in Hong Kong. We also

co-organized two forums with Taiwan business associations to
keep members abreast of cross-strait developments, in addition
to co-organizing a seminar with the One Country Two Systems

Research Institute.

WEC

The Women's Executive Club was very active during the year
under review, as the club organized a number of events to
promote good physical and mental health. Under the "Work-life
Balance Series," the Chamber invited Dr Richard Lee, Professor
of Medicine at the State University of New York, Agnes Chan,
Regional Managing Partner of Hong Kong & Macau, Ernst &
Young China, and Dr Rosanna Wong, Executive Director, The
Hong Kong Federation of Youth Groups, to share with members
how they manage different challenges and facets of their life,

and how they have achieved excellence in their chosen fields.

The Chamber's
delegation to Egypt
and Morocco received
a warm welcome.
oooooooog
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A new format for the popular
cocktails with Consuls
General in Hong Kong was
adopted during the year.
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Membership forms the heart of the Hong Kong General Chamber of
Commerce. During the year under review the Chamber strengthened its

communication services and programmes coverage through our print and
electronic media to better serve members.
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Corporate Development

Membership

Our diverse membership is the heart of the Chamber's success,
and we believe the unique 150th Anniversary will encourage
more businesses to join the Chamber to benefit from our services.
To expand our membership, we ran a retention and recruitment
strategy in 2010 that promoted the value of membership.

We introduced an incentive scheme for a membership drive
campaign that encouraged existing members to refer their
business associates. A member recruitment drive by committee
members and General Committee members were also effective
in membership development.

Our 150th Anniversary was a key component in marketing the
Chamber's value proposition, which we kicked off with the unveiling
of our countdown clock at the Annual General Meeting in 2010.

To strengthen camaraderie among members, a number of
networking programmes were organized during the year under
review. The quarterly Chamber Happy Hour continues to be
well received by members, as do other cocktail evenings. The
Christmas Cocktail at Hong Kong Club remains the annual

highlight of the networking calendar.

The Bulletin

The Chamber uses its monthly magazine, The Bulletin, to
disseminate information to mark our 150th Anniversary, as
well as present our positions to members and the public. The
magazine underwent a major redesign during the year under
review, with new editorial departments, and expanded soft
features to appeal to a wider range of readers. The changes
have been welcomed by members and advertisers. As a result,

Members enjoyed a sunset
cruise aboard The Bounty,
during one of the popular
Happy Hour cocktails.
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The 150th
Anniversary
countdown clock
was unveiled at
2010's AGM.
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Among the many activities organized for members are some

casual events, such as this chocolate making workshop.
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advertising income for 2010 registered a modest increase over
2009. Moreover, members can now download complete issues
of The Bulletin via the Chamber's web site.

Web Site

To mark our 150th Anniversary, the Chamber web site underwent
a complete redesign in 2010, the results of which were unveiled
on May 31. The changes were designed to streamline and
improve members' access to information, and a search engine
was a key component in its new design. In addition, the site is
now completely bilingual (English and Chinese). To safeguard the
value to membership, much of the data is now accessible only by
members. For example, members are now required to login to
access videos, sound clips, and presentations of past events, as
well as the online version of The Bulletin.

Media Relations
Maintaining good relations with the media is essential to ensure

that the Chamber's views are made and known in society and
that they are presented clearly and accurately. The Chamber
wrote a number of Op-Eds in selected media in 2010, as well as
our regular press coverage on the Chamber's policy submissions,
and events.

Community Relations
The Good Citizen Award, which has been sponsored solely

by the Chamber since 1973, held two award presentation
ceremonies during the year under review. Organized by the
Police Public Relations Branch, the award commended 81
exemplary citizens each year, and over 3,700 citizens have

received the award over the years.

Matching secondary schools with member companies in

the Business/School Partnership Programme marked its 9th

good

anniversary in 2010-2011. During the year under review, the

programme was supported by 14 corporations which offered
many useful learning experiences for students. In addition, the
Chamber co-organized The Hong Kong Occupational Safety

& Health Award, supported the Caring Company Award, the
Community Chest, and the Work-Life Balance Day.
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& ﬁ x::Irﬂ:‘:t The Chamber's web site, and
A 3 - magazine, The Bulletin, underwent a
b complete transformation in 2010 as
part of our 150th Anniversary.
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Nominal GDP (Hks$ Billion)

— Private Consumption

— Government Consumption

— Capital Investment

— Inventories

— Goods and Services Exports
— Goods Exports
— Services Exports

— Goods and Services Imports
— Goods Imports
— Services Imports

— Domestic Demand

Inflation and Wages
— Composite CPI

— CPIA

- CPIB

-CPIC

— GDP Deflator

Real GDP (2000 HK$ Billion)

— Private Consumption

— Government Consumption

— Capital Investment

— Inventories

— Goods and Services Exports
— Goods Exports
— Services Exports

— Goods and Services Imports
— Goods Imports
— Services Imports

— Domestic Demand

Real GDP (% Change)

— Private Consumption

— Government Consumption

— Capital Investment

— Inventories (% of GDP)

— Goods and Services Exports
— Goods Exports
— Services Exports

— Goods and Services Imports
— Goods Imports
— Services Imports

— Domestic Demand

Retail Sales (HKs Billion)
Percent Change

Volume Index (2004/05 = 100)
Percent Change

Restaurant receipts (HKS$ billion)
Percent Change

2003
1,235
720
130
262

2,112
1,749

362
1,997
1,794

203
1,121

i

(25)
(2.1)
2.7)
(2.9)
(62)

1,240
789
136
280

2,294
1,881

413
2,264
2,034

230
1,215
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(0.4)

0.0
(0.4)
0.7)
(3.5)

1,345
844
137
287

2,648
2,161

487
2,577
2,313

264
1,276

8.5
70
0.7
25
0.6
15.4
14.9
18.0
13.8
13.7
14.6
5.0

191.6
10.8
95.5
9.2
53.0
10.1

2005
1,383
805
121
289
©)
2,747
2,252
495
2,575
2311
264
1211

0.1)

1,440
869
132
299
©)
2,929
2,385
544
2,783
2,499
285
1,295

7.1
3.0
(3.2)

(03)
10.6
10.4
11.6

8.0
8.0
78
15

204.6
6.8
101.3
6.1
56.2
6.0

2006
1,475
864
123
323
@)
3,032
2,467
565
2,864
2,576
288
1,307

20
17
2.1
22

03)

1,541
920
133
320
(1)
3,205
2,607
599
3,037
2,729
308
1,372

70
5.9
03
71

0.1)
9.4
93

10.1
9.1
9.2
8.1
5.9

219.6
13
107.2
5.8
61.6
9.5

2007
1,616
972
130
325

3,360
2,699

661
3,185
2,853

332
1,441

2.0
1.3
22
2.7
29

1,640
999
137
331

3,473
2,790

683
3,314
2,969

345
1,480

6.4
8.5
3.0
3.4
0.8
8.3
7.0

9.2
8.8

79

2477
12.8
118.0
10.1
69.8
13.4

2008
1,677
1,023
139
334

3,563
2,844

719
3,391
3,024

366
1,505

43
3.6
46
47
1.6

1,675
1,023
139
334

3,563
2,844

719
3,391
3,024

366
1,508

273.8
10.5
123.9
50
79.2
13.4

2009
1,622
1012
143
323
23
3,165
2,495
670
3,044
2,703
341
1,501

05
03
05
06

(05)

1,629
1,029
143
321
23
3,203
2,482
721
3,087
2,738
349
1,516

(28)
06
2.3

(3.9)
1.4

(10.1)
(12.7)
03

(9.0)

(9.5)

(4.9)
05

2748
04
122.8
(0.9)
79.9
0.8

2010
1748
1,080
147
375
42
3,896
3,061
835
3,792
3,395
397
1,644

24
2.7
2.4
2.1
0.7

1,743
1,089
146
347
40
3,741
2,912
829
3,619
3,232
387
1,622

7.0
5.8
2.7
8.1
2.3
16.8
17.3
15.0
17.3
18.1
10.9
70

324.9
18.3
141.9
15.6
84.0
5.1



2003

Population (million, year end) 6.764
— Male (@) 483
— Female (o) 51.7
— 0-14 years old (%) 15.7
— 15-24 years old (%) 12.9
— 25-39 years old (o) 254
— 40-64 years old () 343
— Qver 65 years old (%) 1.7
Labour Force (million) 3.473
— Employed (million) 3.201

— Wholesale, Retail, Trade, 0.962

Restaurants & Hotels

— Finance & Business Services 0.468

— Community Services 0.332

— Manufacturing 0.155

— Civil Service 0.167

— Transportation & Communications 0.220
— Unemployed (million) 0.274
Unemployment Rate (%) 79
Under-employment Rate (o) 36
Tourism Arrivals (million) 15.5
— From Mainland China (%) 54.5
— From Taiwan (%) 119
— From Japan (%) 5.6
— From the USA (o) 4.6

2003

Stock Exchange Indices (year-end)
Hang Seng Index (1uly 1964=100) 12,576
Average Daily Turnover (HK$ millon) 10,265
Market Capitalisation (US$ billion) 703
Number of listed companies 852
Money and Banking
No. of licensed banks operating 134
No. of restricted license banks 42
No. of DTCs operating 39
Money Supply M1 (Hks billion) 413
Money Supply M2 (HK$ billon) 3,813
Money Supply M3 (HK$ billon) 3,857
Total bank deposits (HK$ billion) 3,567
Total loans and advances (HK$ billion) 2,035
— Loans for use in Hong Kong (percent share) 84.0
— All other loans (percent share) 16.0
Hong Kong Dollar Prime Rate (average) 5.0
Exchange Rate
HK$:US$1 (average) 779
HK$:€1 (average) 8.81
HK$:¥100 (average) 6.68
HK$:Rmb1 (average) 0.95
Trade Weighted Index (Jan 2000 = 100) 100.8

2004
6.798
48.1
51.9
15.1
13.1
246
35.3
11.9

3511
3.289
0.990

0.486
0.344
0.150
0.161
0.224
0.232

6.6

32

21.8
56.1
9.5
52
4.8

2004

14,230
15,857
851
892

133
40

35
484
4,167
4,190
3,866
2,156
83.1
16.9
5.0

779
9.69
721
0.94
98.3

2005
6.838
47.8
522
14.5
13.1
24.0
36.4
12.0

3.537
3.348
1.015

0.508
0.363
0.146
0.156
0.227
0.193

55

26

234
53.7
9.1
52
49

2005

14,876
18,211
1,043
934

133
33

33
435
4,379
4,407
4,068
2,312
83

17

6.1

778
9.68
7.08
0.95
974

2006
6.910
476
524
14.0
13.1
24.0
37.7
11.2

3.576
3.403
1.036

0.531
0.376
0.142
0.154
0.231
0.172

4.8

24

25.3
53.8
52
8.6
4.6

2006

19,965
33,735
1,705
975

138
29

33
492
5,063
5,099
4,757
2,468
80

20
79

1777
9.77
14.95
1.03
96.2

2007
6.953
474
52.6
13.1
13.1
23.6
376
12.6

3.638
3.489
1.052

0.558
0.388
0.137
0.154
0.237
0.149

4.1

22

28.2
55.0
4.7
79
47

2007

27813
87424
2,633
1,048

142
27

29
617
6,106
6,140
5,869
2,962
77

23
76

7.80
10.7
15.06
1.03
92.0

2008
6.989
472
52.8
12.7
12.8
23.6
38.2
12.7

3.665
3.540
1.060

0.577
0.402
0.133
0.154
0.245
0.126

3.4

1.9

29.5
57.1
4.5
7.6
3.9

2008

14,387
43,049
1,317
1,319

145
29

28
646
6,270
6,302
6,060
3,286
77

23
54

779
11.45
13.23

0.97

87.3

googggd

2009 2010
7.026 7.098
470 46.7
52.8 53.3
12.3 12.1
12.5 12.6
23.6 235
38.5 38.9
13.1 12.9
3.696 3.673
3.504 3.513
1.035 1.052
0.583 0.604
0.415 0.428
0.125 0.120
0.156 0.156
0.245 0.248
0.192 0.160
52 44
2.3 2.0
29.6 36.0
60.7 61.7
4.1 3.7
6.8 6.0
3.6 3.3
2009 2010
21,873 23,035
62,310 69,117
2,292 2,710
1,319 1,413
145 145
26 26
28 28
902 10,172
6,602 7,136
6,627 7,156
6,381 6,862
3,289 4,227
76.02 78.45
23.98 21.55
5.0 5.0
7.75 1777
10.81 10.32
12.08 11.31
88.25 87.25
88.28 86.28
ooooo
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Public Finances (Hs$ billion, FY April -March)
Operating Revenue

2001-02 151.7
2002-03 1169.4
2003-04 197.7
2004-05 199.5
2005-06 212.6
2006-07 2570
2007-08 270.1
2008-09 2779
2009-10 263.1
2010-11 301.4
2011-12 (budget) 301.6

Merchandise Trade (HKs billion)
Total Imports (cif)

Total Exports (fo.b)

— Domestic Exports

— Re-exports

Total Trade

Trade Balance

— As a percent of imports

Services Trade

Exports of Services
Imports of Services
Two-way Services Trade
Senvices Balance

Operating Expenditure

198.7

200.3

203.2

196.9

192.5

194.0

206.4

260.0

236.0

240.8

298.0
2003 2004 2005
1,811 2,114 2,333
2,016 2,241 2,463
122 126 136
1,895 2,115 2,326
3,827 4,355 4,795
205.5 126.8 130.0
11.4 6.0 5.6
362 430 544
203 243 285
566 672 829
159 187 259

Merchandise Re-exports: Major Markets (HK$ billion, % share)

Mainland of China
USA.

Japan

Germany

United Kingdom
Taiwan

426
18.6
54
32
3.3
24

440
16.9
53
3.1
3.3
2.4

Merchandise Imports: Major Suppliers (HK$ billon, % share)

Mainland of China
Japan

Taiwan

USA.

Singapore

Korea

Imports by End-use (Hks billion)
Foodstuffs

Consumer Goods

Fuels

Raw Materials & Manufactures
Capital Goods

Re-exports by End Use (Hks bilion)
Foodstuffs

Consumer goods

Raw materials and semi-manufactures
Fuels

Capital goods

435
11.9
6.9
55
5.0
4.8

58
576
35
654
482

617
533

454
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435
12.1
73
53
53
4.8

60
632
49
805
565

12
679
662

537

45.0
16.0
53
32
3.1
22

450
11.0
7.2
5.1
5.8
44

61
678
60
869
661

734
722

642

Operating Balance

(470)

(30.9)
(5.5)
26
202
63.0
63.7
180
270
60.7
36

2006
2,600
2,461

135
2,326
5,061

(138.8)

(53)

599
308
906
291

470
15.1
49
3.1
3.0
2.1

459
10.3
75
4.8
6.3
4.6

66
697
74
993
770

14
753
836

719

2007
2,872
2,689

109
2,580
5,562

(183.2)

(6.4)

683
345
1,028
338

48.7
13.7
45
3.0
2.8
2.0

46.3
10.0
7.1
4.8
6.8
42

77
762
88
1,099
842

19
815
915

825

Fiscal Reserves (FY-end)

2008
3,028
2,827
91
2,736
5,855
(201.6)
6.7)

719
366
1,085
352

48.5
12.7
43
3.3
2.7
1.9

46.6
9.8
6.4
5.0
6.4
3.9

97
811
112

1,093
913

3725
3155
275.3
296.0
310.6
369.3
492.9
5203
591.6
595.5
623.9

2009
2,695
2,471
58
2,413
5,166
(224.01)
(8.31)

721
349
1,069
372

51.1
11.5
4.6
32
24
2.3

46.4
8.8
6.5
53
6.5
3.8

106
690

90
982
825

30
732
840

806

2010
3,368
3,020

58
2,962
6,388

(348.35)

(10.34)

829
387
1215
442

52.7
10.9
42
2.7
2.0
23

454
9.1
6.7
53
7.0
4.0

124
811
119
1,238
1,073

34
818
1,035

1,072



Services Exports (HK$ billion)
Total

Transportation

Travel

Trade-related

Other

Services Imports (HK$ billion)
Total

Transportation

Travel

Trade-related

Other

Electricity Consumption (Terajoules)
— Industrial

— Commercial

— Domestic

— Other (incl. Export)

Telecommunications (/000 accounts)
— Residential

— Business

— Fax

— Broadband Internet

— Mobile phone

Motor Vehicle Registrations (No.)
Total licensed

— new registrations

Private cars

— new registrations

2003

362
108
56
130
69

203
52
89
16
46

2002
149,262
14,851
88,834
34,365
11,212

2,119
1,701

491
1,231
6,396

524,249
35,229
382,880
21,345

2004

430
135
70
147
78

243
68
103

55

2003
152,313
15,430
91,255
34,134
11,494

2,118
1,662

456
1,484
7,349

532,872
41,105
385,028
25,598

2005

544
158

80
162
144

285
81
103

81

2004
160,363
14,636
93,341
35,811
16,575

2,116
1,677

410
1,700
8,214

540,641
34,028
388,311
24,372

2006

599
174

90
178
156

308
90
109
21
87

2005
161,504
14,015
95,370
35,428
16,691

2,135
1,701

375
1,744
9,444

552,980
32,910
393,756
27488

2007

683
200
107
199
177

345
109
117
24
95

2006
161,598
13,104
97,155
36,422
14,917

1,976
1,743
352
1,880
10,589

565,071
38,313
406,995
33,124

2008

719
225
119
216
159

366
123
125
27
91

2007
160,134
12,182
97,672
37,100
13,180

1,943
1,769
319
1,948
11,374

575,106
40,473
421,062
34,614

googggd

2009 2010
721 829
184 237
128 178
207 248
203 165
349 387

95 114

121 136

27 33

105 103
2008 2009
162,799 160,098
11,143 11,080
98,856 99,883
38972 39,344
13,828 9,791

1,923 1,893

1,766 1,794
286 260

2,004 2,119

11,937 13,265
584,070 607,796
29,493 39,729
429,754 449,400
28,432 41,240
ooooo
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Independent auditor's report to the members of
The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of The Hong Kong General
Chamber of Commerce (the “Chamber”) set out on pages 50 to 68, which comprise
the consolidated and the Chamber balance sheets as at 31 December 2010, the
consolidated income and expenditure statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

General Committee’s responsibility for the consolidated financial
statements

The General Committee of the Chamber is responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such
internal control as the General Committee determines is necessary to enable the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements
based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 141 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts
and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers interal control relevant to
the entity's preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the General
Committee, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

InFZ)ur opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Chamber and of the group as at 31 December 2010 and of
the group’s surplus and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance
with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

A

Signed KPMG
Certified Public Accountants, Hong Kong
14 April, 2011
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Consolidated income and expenditure statement
for the year ended 31 December 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Income
Members' subscriptions
Fees
Interest and dividends
Publications and promotion
Commission income
Rental income
Net realised gains on available-for-sale
debt and equity securities
Exchange gain

Expenditure
Staff
Office
Services
Depreciation of fixed assets
Subscriptions and donations

Surplus before taxation
Income tax

Surplus for the year

The notes on pages 54 to 68 form part of these financial statements.

Note
oo

13
14
15

17
18
19

4@
20

21

22

2010
$'000

11,130
38,236
2251
6,813
205
3,150
3,547

46
65378

(45,622)
(6726)
(3,304)
(4236)

(324)

5,166

458

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Surplus for the year

Other comprehensive income for the year
Available-for-sale securities:
— Changes in fair value recognised during the year
— Reclassification adjustments for amounts
to profit or loss on disposal

Total comprehensive income for the year

The notes on pages 54 to 68 form part of these financial statements.

Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce  Annual Report 2010

2010
$'000

(43,720)
(5783)
(4,423)
(5,044)

(532)

8,900

263
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Consolidated balance sheet

as at 31 December 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Non-current assets
Fixed assets

— Investment properties
— Other fixed assets

Non-current financial assets
Current assets
Accounts with investment manager

Debtors and prepayments
Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities
Creditors and accruals
Subscriptions received in advance
Current taxation

Deferred tax liabilities
NET ASSETS

General fund

Fair value reserve

TOTAL EQUITY

Approved and authorised for issue by the General Committee on 14 April, 2011.

Anthony Wu
C K Chow
Alex Fong

Tricor Services Limited

Note
oo

4(a)

6

12(a)

12(0)

Chairman

Deputy Chairman

Treasurers

The notes on pages 54 to 68 form part of these financial statements.

uogon

2010 2009
$'000 $'000
47480 48,897
61,277 63,670
108,757 112,567
249,320 203,033
2,306 4,890
3,299 2,892
56,518 69,630
62,123 77412
420200 393012
38,399 30,450
9,728 10,669
25 59
48152 41178
S 7/ 139
371,878 351,695
312,163 307455
_ 59715  _44240
371,878 351,695
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Balance sheet

as at 31 December 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Non-current assets
Fixed assets

— Investment properties
— Other fixed assets

Interest in a subsidiary
Non-current financial assets
Current assets
Accounts with investment manager

Debtors and prepayments
Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities
Creditors and accruals
Subscriptions received in advance
Current taxation

Deferred tax liabilities
NET ASSETS

General fund

Fair value reserve

TOTAL EQUITY

Approved and authorised for issue by the General Committee on 14 April, 2011.

Anthony Wu
C K Chow
Alex Fong

Tricor Services Limited

Note
oo

4(b)

12(a)

12(0)

23(a)

23(a)

Chairman

Deputy Chairman

Treasurers

The notes on pages 54 to 68 form part of these financial statements.

Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce  Annual Report 2010

2010 2009
$'000 $'000
47480 48,897
61,244 63,644
108,724 112,541
8,009 8,300
249,320 203,033
2,306 4,890
2,419 1,963
48,406 61,317
_53131  _68170
419,184 392,044
38,246 30,246
9,728 10,669

12 50
47986 40,965
170 139
371028 350940
311,313 306,700
59,715 44,240
371028 350940
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

uogon

0000 000000 0000
General  Fair value Total
fund reserve equity
$'000 $'000 $'000
Balance at 1 January 2009 298,818 610 299,428
Changes in equity for 2009:
Surplus for the year 8,637 - 8,637
Other comprehensive income - _ 43630 _ 43,630
Total comprehensive income for the year 8,637 _ 43630 _ 52,267
Balance at 31 December 2009 and 307,455 44240 351,695
1 January 2010
Changes in equity for 2010:
Surplus for the year 4,708 - 4708
Other comprehensive income - _ 15475 _ 15475
Total comprehensive income for the year 4,708 15475 _ 20,183
Balance at 31 December 2010 312,163 _ 59715 371,878

The notes on pages 54 to 68 form part of these financial statements.

Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Note 2010
0o $'000
Operating activities
Cash generated from/(used in) operations 10(b) 10,205
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (424)
People's Republic of China (“PRC") (37)
Corporate Income Tax paid
Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities 9744
Investing activities
Payment for the purchase of fixed assets (426)
Payment for the purchase of securities (58,251)
Decrease in accounts with investment manager 2,584

Interest and dividends received 2,251

Proceeds from sale of securities _ 30,986
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (22,856)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (13,112)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 10@@  _ 69,630
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 10(a) _ 56518

The notes on pages 54 to 68 form part of these financial statements.

(465)
(93,750)
5722
3,681
93,621

-..8.809
7,682

61,948
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Notes to the financial statements
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

1

@

(b)

©

(d)

Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce  Annual Report 2010

Principal place of business

The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce is a company limited by guarantee and
incorporated and domiciled in Hong Kong and has its registered office and principal place
of business at 22/F United Centre, 95 Queensway, Central, Hong Kong.

Significant accounting policies

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all
applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards ("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. A summary of the
significant accounting policies adopted by the group is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective or available
for early adoption for the current accounting period of the group and the Chamber.
Note 3 provides information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the group and
the Chamber for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these financial
statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the
historical cost basis except that financial instruments classified as available-for-sale
securities are stated at fair value as explained in note 2(d).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies
and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if
the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by the General Committee in the application of HKFRSs that have
significant effect on the financial statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty
are discussed in note 26.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Chamber. Control exists when the Chamber
has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain
benefits from activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that presently are
exercisable are taken into account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated financial statements
from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances and transactions and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

In the Chamber's balance sheet, an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less any
impairment losses (see note 2(h)).

Investments in debt and equity securities

The group’s and the Chamber's policies for investments in debt and equity securities
other than an investment in a subsidiary are as follows:

Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date the group commits to purchase/
sell the investments or they expire.

Investments in debt and equity securities are initially stated at fair value, which is their
transaction price unless fair value can be more reliably estimated using valuation
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techniques whose variables include only data from observable markets. Cost includes

attributable transaction costs. These investments are subsequently accounted for as follows,

depending on their classification:

- Dated debt securities that the group and the Chamber have the positive ability and
intention to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity securities. Held-to-maturity
securities are stated in the balance sheet at amortised cost less impairment losses (see
note 2(h)).

- Investments in equity securities that do not have a quoted market price in an active market
and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are recognised in the balance sheet at
cost less impairment losses (see note 2(h)).

Investments in securities which do not fall into any of the above categories are classified as
available-for-sale securities. At each balance sheet date the fair value is remeasured, with
any resultant gain or loss being recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the fair value reserve.
Dividend income from these investments is recognised in accordance with the policy set
out in note 2(0)(iv) and, where these investments are interest-bearing, interest calculated
using the effective interest method is recognised in income and expenditure statement
in accordance with the policy set out in note 2(0)(iii). When these investments are
derecognised or impaired (see note 2(h)), the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from
equity to the income and expenditure statement.

Investment property

Investment properties are land and buildings which are owned or held under a leasehold
interest (see note 2(g)) to eam rental income andj/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are stated in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses (see note 2(h)). Rental income from investment properties is
accounted for as described in note 2(0)(v).

When the group holds a property interest under an operating lease to eam rental income
and/or for capital appreciation, the interest is classified and accounted for as an investment
property on a property-by-property basis. Any such property interest which has been
classified as an investment property is accounted for as if it were held under a finance lease
(see note 2(g)), and the same accounting policies are applied to that interest as are applied
to other investment properties leased under finance leases. Lease payments are accounted
for as described in note 2(g).

Fixed assets

The following fixed assets held for own use are stated in the balance sheet at cost less

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2(h)):

- land held under operating leases and buildings thereon, where the fair values of the
leasehold interest in the land and buildings cannot be measured separately at the
inception of the lease; and

- other fixed assets.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of fixed assets, less their estimated

residual value, if any, using the straight line method over their estimated useful lives as

follows:

- Leasehold land is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the remaining periods of the
respective leases.

- Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired
term of lease and their estimated useful lives, being no more than 40 years after the date
of completion.

- Fumiture, fittings and office equipment 5-10 years
- Motor vehicles 5 years
- Computer systems 3 years

Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of fixed assets are
determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount
of the item and are recognised in the income and expenditure statement on the date of
retirement or disposal.
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(g) Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of transactions, is or contains a lease
if the group determines that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset or
assets for an agreed period of time in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such
a determination is made based on an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement
and is regardless of whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

0]

(i

Classification of assets leased to the group

Assets that are held by the group under leases which transfer to the group
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as being held under
finance leases. Leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the group are classified as operating leases, with the following
exceptions:

property held under operating leases that would otherwise meet the definition of an
investment property is classified as an investment property on a property-by-property
basis and, if classified as an investment property, is accounted for as if held under a
finance lease (see note 2(e)); and

land held for own use under an operating lease, the fair value of which cannot
be measured separately from the fair value of a building situated thereon at the
inception of the lease, is accounted for as being held under a finance lease. For
these purposes, the inception of the lease is the time that the lease was first entered
into by the group, or taken over from the previous lessee.

Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the group acquires the use of assets under finance leases, the amounts
representing the fair value of the leased asset are included in fixed assets.

(iii) Operating lease charges

Where the group has the use of assets held under operating leases, payments made
under the leases are charged to the income and expenditure statement in equal
instalments over the accounting periods covered by the lease term, except where
an alternative basis is more representative of the pattemn of benefits to be derived
from the leased asset. Lease incentives received are recognised in the income and
expenditure statement as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments made.
Contingent rentals are charged to the income and expenditure statement in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.

Impairment of assets

0)

Impairment of investments in debt and equity securities and other receivables
Investments in debt and equity securities (other than an investment in a subsidiary,
see note 2(h)(ii)) and other current and non-current receivables that are stated at
cost or amortised cost or are classified as available-for-sale securities are reviewed
at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is objective evidence of
impairment. Objective evidence of impairment includes observable data that comes
to the attention of the group about one or more of the following loss events:

- significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- abreach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments;

- it becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; and

- a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment in an equity
instrument below its cost.

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is determined and recognised as

follows:

- For unquoted equity securities carried at cost, the impairment loss is measured
as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the current market rate of retun for a
similar financial asset where the effect of discounting is material. Impairment losses
for equity securities are not reversed.

- For current receivables and other financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial
asset's original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition of these assets), where the effect of discounting is material. This
assessment is made collectively where financial assets carried at amortised cost
share similar risk characteristics, such as similar past due status, and have not been
individually assessed as impaired. Future cash flows for financial assets which are
assessed for impairment collectively are based on historical loss experience for
assets with credit risk characteristics similar to the collective group.
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(i

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be linked objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised, the impairment loss is reversed through the income and
expenditure statement. A reversal of an impairment loss shall not result in the
asset's carrying amount exceeding that which would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

- For available-for-sale securities, the cumulative loss that had been recognised in
the fair value reserve is reclassified to the income and expenditure statement. The
amount of the cumulative loss that is recognised in the income and expenditure
statement is the difference between the acquisition cost (net of any principal
repayment and amortisation) and current fair value, less any impairment loss on
that asset previously recognised in the income and expenditure statement.
Impairment losses recognised in the income and expenditure statement in respect
of available-for-sale equity securities are not reversed through the income and
expenditure statement. Any subsequent increase in the fair value of such assets is
recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

Impairment losses in respect of available-for-sale debt securities are reversed if the
subsequent increase in fair value can be objectively related to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised. Reversals of impairment losses in such
circumstances are recognised in the income and expenditure statement.
Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding assets directly, except
for impairment losses recognised in respect of current receivables included within
debtors and prepayments, whose recovery is considered doubtful but not remote. In
this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts are recorded using an allowance
account. When the group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the amount considered
irecoverable is written off against current receivables directly and any amounts held
in the allowance account relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously charged to the allowance account are reversed against the
allowance account. Other changes in the allowance account and subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off directly are recognised in the income and expenditure
statement.
Impairment of other assets
Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at each balance sheet date
to identify indications that the following assets may be impaired or, an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:
- investment properties;
- other fixed assets; and
- investment in a subsidiary.
If any such indication exists, the asset's recoverable amount is estimated.
- Calculation of recoverable amount
The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those from
other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
Recognition of impairment losses
An impairment loss is recognised in the income and expenditure statement if
the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets in the
unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset
will not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs to sell, or value in use, if
determinable.
Reversals of impairment losses
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset's carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior
years. Reversals of impairment losses are credited to the income and expenditure
statement in the year in which the reversals are recognised.
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Receivables

Receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost
less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see note 2(h)), except where the
receivables are interest-free loans made to related parties without any fixed repayment
terms or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are
stated at cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts.

Payables

Payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently stated at amortised cost
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with
banks and other financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at acquisition.

Employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which
the associated services are rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement is
deferred and the effect would be material, where amounts are stated at their present
values.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and
liabilities. Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised
in the income and expenditure statement.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses. All deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be
utilised, are recognised.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at each balance sheet date and
is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to
the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are presented
separately from each other and are not offset.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the group or
the Chamber has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.
Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the group and the revenue
and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in the income
and expenditure statement as follows:
(i) Members' subscriptions
Members' subscriptions are recognised on an accruals basis.
(ii) Fees and commission income
Fees and commission income are recognised as income when the services are
rendered.
(iii) Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.
(iv) Dividends
- Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised when the shareholder's
right to receive payment is established.
- Dividend income from listed investments is recognised when the share price of the
investment goes ex-dividend.
(v) Rental income from operating leases
Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised in the income and
expenditure statement in equal instalments over the period covered by the lease
term, except where an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the leased asset. Lease incentives granted are recognised
in the income and expenditure statement as an integral part of the aggregate net
lease payments receivable.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date.
Exchange gains and losses are recognised in the income and expenditure statement.

Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, a party is considered to be related to the

group if:

(i) the party has the ability, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, to
control the group or exercise significant influence over the group in making financial
and operating policy decisions, or has joint control over the group;

(ii) the group and the party are subject to common control;

(iii) the party is a subsidiary, an associate of the group or a joint venture in which the
group is a venturer;

(iv) the party is @ member of key management personnel of the group or the group's
parent, or a close family member of such an individual, or is an entity under the
control, joint control or significant influence of such individuals;

(v) the party is a close family member of a party referred to in (i) or is an entity under
the control, joint control or significant influence of such individuals; or

(vi) the party is a post-employment benefit plan which is for the benefit of employees of
the group or of any entity that is a related party of the group.

Close family members of an individual are those family members who may be expected

to influence, or be influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the entity.

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued two revised HKFRSs, a number of amendments to HKFRSs and
two new Interpretations that are first effective for the current accounting period of the
group and the Chamber. Of these, Improvements to HKFRSs (2009) are relevant to the
group's financial statements. These improvements have had no material impact on the
group’s financial statements as these were consistent with policies already adopted by
the group.

The group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for
the current accounting period (see note 27).
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4 Fixed assets
(@) Consolidated

Cost:
At 1 January 2009
Additions

At 31 December 2009

At 1 January 2010
Additions

At 31 December 2010

Accumulated depreciation:

At 1 January 2009
Charge for the year

At 31 December 2009

At 1 January 2010
Charge for the year

At 31 December 2010

Net book value:
At 31 December 2010

At 31 December 2009
(b) The Chamber

Cost:
At 1 January 2009
Additions

At 31 December 2009

At 1 January 2010
Additions

At 31 December 2010

Accumulated depreciation:

At 1 January 2009
Charge for the year

At 31 December 2009

At 1 January 2010
Charge for the year

At 31 December 2010

Net book value:
At 31 December 2010

At 31 December 2009

0000 000000 0o 0o 0o oooo oooo
00 00000 0o oo
Leasehold  Furniture,
properties fittings Total
held for  and office Motor ~ Computer Investment fixed
ownuse equipment  vehicles  systems  Sub-otal  properties assets
$1000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $1000
84,931 17556 540 17098 120,125 65,083 185,208
= 143 = 322 465 2 465
84,931 17699 540 17420 120,590 65,083 185,673
84,931 17699 540 17420 120,590 65,083 185,673
= 108 = 318 426 - 426
84,931 17807 540 17738 121,016 65,083 186,099
21,623 15,896 225 15549 53293 14,769 68,062
1,818 646 108 1,055 3,627 _ 1417 _ 5044
23441 16,542 333 16,604 56920 16,186 73,106
23,441 16,542 333 16,604 56920 16,186 73,106
1,818 270 108 623 2819 _1417 _4236
25259 16812 441 17227 59739 17603 77342
59,672 995 99 511 61277 _47480 108757
61,490 _ 1,157 207 816 63670 48897 112,567
84,931 17180 540 17056 119,707 65,083 184,790
- 137 - 315 452 - 452
84,931 17317 540 17371 120,159 65,083 185,242
84,931 17317 540 17371 120,159 65,083 185,242
= 107 = 298 405 = 405
84931 17424 540 17669 120,564 65,083 185,647
21,623 15534 225 15518 52900 14,769 67669
1,818 642 108 1,047 _3615 _ 1417 _ 5032
23,441 16,176 333 16565 56515 16,186 72701
23,441 16,176 333 16565 56,515 16,186 72,701
1,818 265 108 614 2,805 _ 1417 _ 4222
25259 16441 441 17179 59,3220 17603 76923
59,672 983 99 490 61244 _47480 108724
61,490 _ 1,141 207 806 63644 48897 112,541

(c) The fair value of these investment properties is $107,000,000 as at 31 December 2010
which is determined by valuations carried out by an independent firm of surveyors,
who have among their staff Fellows of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors with recent
experience in the location and category of property being valued.
The fair value of these investment properties was $60,600,000 as at 31 December
2009 which was estimated by the General Committee by making reference to recent
transactions of similar properties.

Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce  Annual Report 2010
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The analysis of net book value of properties is as follows:

oooooo
Consolidated and the Chamber
2010 2009
$'000 $'000

In Hong Kong
— long leases 30,743 31,635
- medium-term leases 76,409 78,752
107,152 110,387

The group leases out investment properties under operating leases. The leases typically
run for an initial period of two to three years, with an option to renew the lease after that
date at which time all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes contingent
rentals.

All properties held under operating leases that would otherwise meet the definition of
investment property are classified as investment property.

The group's total future lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are

receivable as follows: oopoog
Consolidated and the Chamber
2010 2009
$'000 $'000
Within 1 year 1,867 3,150
After 1 year but within 5 years - 1,867
1,867 5017

Interest in a subsidiary
ooo
The Chamber
2010 2009
$'000 $'000
Unlisted shares, at cost 10 10
Amount due from a subsidiary 11,981 12272
11,991 12,282
Less: impairment loss (3.982) (3.982)

8,009 8,300

The wholly-owned subsidiary is Chamber Services Limited (“CSL"), incorporated in Hong
Kong, whose principal activity during the year was the provision of business related
services. The Chamber has issued a letter of support which was in force during the year
for an unspecified amount to provide financial assistance as is necessary to maintain CSL
as a going concern.

Non-current financial assets oooooo
Consolidated and the Chamber
2010 2009
$'000 $'000

Available-for-sale equity securities:
— Hong Kong listed shares in Tradelink Electronic 27,025 26,144

Commerce Limited

— Investments managed by investment manager 222,295 176,889

(see note 7)

249,320 203,033

Market value of listed investments 50,083 55,802

Investments managed by investment manager oooooo

Consolidated and the Chamber

2010 2009

Market value: $'000 $'000
Unit trusts

— Listed in Hong Kong 8,259 7,832

— Listed outside Hong Kong 14,799 21,826

— Unlisted 199,237 147,231

222,295 176,889
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Accounts with investment manager
These comprise cash balances in interest-bearing current accounts and fixed deposits
together with accrued interest, managed by the investment manager.

Debtors and prepayments

The amount of the group’s and the Chamber's debtors and prepayments expected to
be recovered or recognised as expense after more than one year is 86,000 (2009:
$503,000). All of the other debtors and prepayments are expected to be recovered or
recognised as expense within one year.

All the group's and the Chamber’s debtors were neither past due nor impaired as at 31
December 2010 and 2009.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise: oo ooo
Consolidated The Chamber
2010 2009 2010 2009
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Bank deposits 72 5,889 72 5,889
Cash at bank and in hand 56,446 63,741 48,334 55,428
Cash and cash equivalents 56,518 69,630 48,406 61,317

Reconciliation of surplus before taxation to cash generated from/(used in)
operations:

Note 2010 2009
oo $'000 $'000
Surplus before taxation 5,166 8,900
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 4(a) 4,236 5,044
Net realised gains on debt and equity securities 16 (3,547) (8,119)
Interest and dividend income 14 (2,251) (3,681)
Changes in working capital:
(Increase)/decrease in debtors and prepayments (407) 35
Increase/(decrease) in creditors and accruals 7,949 (3,045)
(Decrease)/increase in subscriptions received in advance (941) 117
Cash generated from/(used in) operations 10,205 (749)

Creditors and accruals

All of the group’s and the Chamber's financial liabilities are repayable within one year,
except for the creditors and accruals of $Nil (2009: $603,000) are expected to be
repayable after more than one year.

Income tax in the balance sheet

Current taxation in the balance sheet represents:

oo 0oo
Consolidated The Chamber

2010 2009 2010 2009

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Provision for Hong Kong 386 375 386 375

Profits Tax for the year

Provisional Profits Tax paid (374) (325) (374) (325)
12 50 12 50

PRC taxation 13 9 - -
25 59 12 50

Deferred tax liabilities recognised:

Consolidated and the Chamber

Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the balance sheet arises from depreciation allowances
in excess of related depreciation. The movements during the year are as follows:

2010 2009
$'000 $000
At 1 January 139 108
Charged to consolidated income and expenditure statement 31 31
At 31 December 170 139
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Deferred tax assets not recognised

uogon

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 2(m), the group has not
recognised deferred tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of a subsidiary of
$1,974,280 (2009: $1,918,000) as it is not probable that future taxable profits against
which the losses can be utilised will be available. The tax losses do not expire under

current tax legislation.
Fees
Certificate fees

EDI fees, including trade declaration and
textile quota licence fees

Reimbursement to Hong Kong Government

Reimbursement to Global E-Trading Ltd.

Others

Interest and dividends

Interest on time deposits
Interest and dividends from listed securities

Publications and promotion

Income from

— publications

— sundry services
- seminars

Expenditure on

- publications

— trade and programme promotion
— advertising and public relations
- seminars

Net income

2010 2009
$'000 $'000
29721 21762

(438) (403)
22,621 20,420

2010 2009
$'000 $'000

6 16

2,245 3,665
2,251 3,681
2010 2009
$'000 $'000
1,245 1,731
8,705 8,611
1,626 2,242
11576 12584
1,305 1,736
2,721 2,456
166 296

571 868
4763 L 5356

Net realised gains on available-for-sale debt and equity securities

Realised (losses)/gains on disposal of investments
managed by investment managers

Available-for-sale debt and equity securities
reclassified from equity on disposal

Staff

Salaries, bonus and allowances

Contribution to defined contribution retirement plan
Staff quarters rental and related expenses

Medical expenses

Passage and leave allowances

Training and recruiting

Sundries

2010 2009
$000 $000
(847) 6,252
4,394 1,867
3,547 8,119

2010 2009
$'000 $'000
40,163 38,118
4613 4,207
- 102

447 440
31 39

41 409
327 405
45,622 43720
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Office

Rent and rates

Light and power

Telephone

Printing and stationery
Postage

Maintenance, repairs and cleaning
Books and newspapers

Local travelling

Motor car expenses

150th Anniversary celebration
Sundry expenses

Services

Auditors' remuneration
Treasurers' fees

Legal and professional fees
Computing fees
Investment manager's fees
Insurance

Subscriptions and donations

Trade organisations' subscriptions
Donations

2010
$'000
2,216
327
160
800
355
1,340
28
325
203
671
301
6,726

2010
$'000
295
240
1,122
320
697
630
3,304

2010
$1000
324

324

Income tax in the consolidated income and expenditure statement

2009
$'000
2,101
316
177
870
318
1,338

2009
$'000
299

240
2,287
357

543

697
4,423

2009
$1000
322
210
532

Taxation in the consolidated income and expenditure statement represents:

Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax
Provision for the year
Over-provision in respect of prior years

Current tax - PRC Corporate Income Tax
Tax for the year

Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences

2010
$1000
386

2009
$'000
375

263

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2010 is calculated at 16.5% (2009: 16.5%)

of the estimated assessable profits for the year.

Taxation for PRC representative office is charged at the appropriate current rates of
taxation ruling in the PRC. The provision for Corporate Income Tax in the PRC is
calculated at 25% of the deemed assessable profits for the period.

Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting surplus at applicable tax rates:

Surplus before taxation

Notional tax on surplus before taxation, calculated at
rates applicable in tax jurisdiction concemed

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses

Tax effect of non-taxable income

Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses

Over-provision in prior years

Others

Actual tax expense charged to income and expenditure

2010
$'000
5,166

873
8,870
(9,283)
()

45

[e¢]

2009
$'000
8900

1,485
8,637
(9,690)
©
(159)

.
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Surplus for the year
The surplus for the year includes a surplus of $4,613,000 (2009: $8,594,000) which has
been dealt with in the financial statements of the Chamber.

General fund and fair value reserve

Movements in the components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of each component of the
group’s consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Details of the changes in the Chamber's individual components of equity between the
beginning and the end of the year are set out below:

ooo 0000 000000 0ooo
The Chamber General  Fair value Total
fund reserve equity

$'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 January 2009 298,106 610 298,716
Surplus for the year 8,594 - 8,594
Other comprehensive income - 43630 _ 43630
Balance at 31 December 2009 and 306,700 44,2240 350,940

1 January 2010

Surplus for the year 4613 - 4613
Other comprehensive income - _ 15475 15,475
Balance at 31 December 2010 311,313 59715 371,028

Capital management

The group's primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the group's ability
to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide benefits for members, by
providing services commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to finance at
a reasonable cost.

The group defines “capital” as including all components of equity.

The group’s capital structure is regularly reviewed and managed by the General Committee.
Adjustments are made to the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions
affecting the Chamber or the group, to the extent that these do not conflict with the General
Committee's fiduciary duties towards the Chamber.

The group's capital structure is monitored on the basis of a debt-to-capital ratio.

There was no change in the group’s approach to capital management compared with
previous years.

The debt-to-capital ratio at 31 December 2010 and 2009 was as follows:

2010 2009
Total debt: $'000 $'000
— Total current liabilities 48,152 41,178
Total equity 371878 351,695
Debt-to-capital ratio 13% 12%

The group was not subject to externally imposed capital requirements in either the current or
prior year.

Financial risk management and fair values

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and equity price risks arises in the normal course of
the group’s business. The group is also exposed to equity price risk arising from its equity
investments in other entities.

The group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk management policies and practices
used by the group to manage these risks are described below.

Credit risk

The group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each
financial asset in the balance sheet after deducting any impairment allowance. The group
does not have significant concentration of credit risk.
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Investments are normally only in liquid securities quoted on a recognised stock exchange,
except where entered into for long term strategic purpose, and with counterparties that
have high credit ratings. Given their credit ratings, the General Committee does not
expect any investment counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.

Further disclosures in respect of the group and the Chamber's exposure to credit risk
arising from debtors are set out in note 9.

Liquidity risk

The group's policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and readily realisable marketable securities and
adequate committed lines of funding to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at the balance sheet date
of the group’s and the Chamber's financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows and the earliest date the group and the Chamber can be required
to pay:

Consolidated 2010 2009
oo oooo oooo
0ooooo 0oooooo
00000 0120310 00000 0120310
000ooo 0oo 000000 ooo
Total Total
contractual contractual
undiscounted undiscounted
cash outflow cash outflow
within Camrying within Carrying
1 year or amount at Tyearor  amount at
ondemand 31 December on demand 31 December
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Creditors and accruals 38,399 38,399 30,450 30,450
Subscriptions received in advance 9,728 9,728 10,669 10,669
48,127 48,127 41,119 41,119
The Chamber 2010 2009
ooo oooo oooo
nfulu}ufufsl oooooo
00000 0120310 00000 0120310
nfululufufs! 000 0DO0D0OOO ooo
Total Total
contractual contractual
undiscounted undiscounted
cash outflow cash outflow
within Camrying within Camying
Tyearor  amount at Tyearor  amount at

ondemand 31 December  on demand 31 December

$'000 $'000 $'000 $000

Creditors and accruals 38,246 38,246 30,246 30,246
Subscriptions received in advance 9,728 9,728 10,669 10,669
47974 47974 40,915 40,915

Interest rate risk
Exposure to interest rate arises from bank deposits and cash at bank. The General
Committee considers that the risk of movement in interest rates to be insignificant.

Equity price risk

The group is exposed to equity price changes arising from available-for-sale equity
securities and investments managed by investment manager (see notes 6 and 7).

Unit trusts are composed of equity securities listed in both developed and emerging
markets all over the world. In this respect, the General Committee considers the equity
price risk is minimised as the investment portfolio is diversified in terms of geographical
and industry distribution.

All of the group’s unquoted investments are held for long term strategic purposes. Their
performance is assessed regularly, against performance of similar listed entities, based
on the limited information available to the group, together with an assessment of their
relevance to the group’s long term strategic plans.

As the investment portfolio is composed of equity securities listed in various markets
in the world, it is not meaningful to estimate the impact of the change in a single stock
market index to the Chamber, no sensitivity analysis is performed.
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Given the group does not account for the unquoted investments at fair value through
income or expenditure statement, the change in any risk variable at year end would not
have any impact on the income and expenditure statement of the group.

Fair values

(i) Financial instruments carried at fair value

The following table presents the carrying value of financial instruments measured at

the fair value at the balance sheet date across the three levels of a fair value hierarchy

defined in HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures, with the fair value of each financial

instrument categorised in its entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant

to that fair value measurement. The levels are defined as follows:

- Level 1 (highest level): fair values measured using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical financial instruments or quoted prices by financial institutions

- Level 2: fair value measured using quoted prices in active markets for similar financial
instruments, or using valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are directly or
indirectly based on observable market data

- Level 3 (lowest level): fair values measured using valuation techniques in which any
significant input is not based on observable market data

2010 ooooooo
The group and the Chamber
oooo oooo oooo oo
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Listed available-for-sale equity 27,025 - - 27025
securities
Investments managed by 222,295 - - 222295
investment manager
249,320 = - 249,320
2009 ooooooo
The group and the Chamber
oooo oooo 0ooo oo
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets $000 $000 $'000 $'000
Listed available-for-sale equity 26,144 = = 26,144
securities
Investments managed by 176,889 - - 176,889
investment manager
203,033 - - 203,033

(ii) Fair values of financial instruments carried at other than fair value
The financial instruments carried at cost or amortised cost are not materially different from
their fair values as at 31 December 2010 and 2009.

Estimation of fair values

Fair value of listed equity securities and listed managed funds is based on quoted market
prices at the balance sheet date without any deduction for transaction costs.

Fair value of unlisted managed funds is based on unit price quoted by financial institutions.

Commitments
At 31 December 2010, the total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases in respect of properties are payable as follows:

oo ooo
Consolidated The Chamber
2010 2009 2010 2009
$'000 $000 $000 $000
Within 1 year 1,154 1613 866 1,264
After 1 year but within 5 years 264 1,338 264 1,164
1,418 2951 1,130 2,428

The Chamber is a lessee in respect of a number of properties held under operating
leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of two to three years, with an option to
renew the lease when all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes contingent
rentals.
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Accounting estimates and judgements

Impairment of assets

If circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of assets may not be recoverable,
the assets may be considered “impaired” and are tested for impairment in accordance
with HKAS 36, Impairment of assets. An impairment loss is recognised when the asset's
recoverable amount has declined below its carrying amount. The recoverable amount is
the greater of the fair value less costs to sell and value in use. The asset's recoverable
amount will also be estimated if circumstances indicate that an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased. An impairment loss is reversed if
there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. In determining the recoverable amount, significant judgements are required and
the group uses all readily available information, including estimates based on reasonable
and supportable assumptions, projections of operating income and expenses or other
market data, to arrive at an amount that is a reasonable approximation of recoverable
amount. Any adverse changes in the assumptions used in determining the recoverable
amount would cause the carrying amount of the asset to be significantly different from
the recoverable amount.

Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but not
yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2010

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number
of amendments and Interpretations and one new standard which are not yet effective for
the year ended 31 December 2010 and which have not been adopted in these financial
statements. These include the following which may be relevant to the group.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

Revised HKAS 24, Related party disclosures 1 January 2011
HKFRS 9, Financial instruments 1 January 2013
Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 1 July 2010

or 1 January 2011

The group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these
amendments is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the group’s or the
Chamber's results of operations and financial position.
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